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General aspect  

This report presents the analyses of the current state of things in the field of access to official information and the problems faced by information solicitors, as well as a series of proposals and recommendations for the scope of redressing the situation.

The gradual assessment of the access to information was performed by the Group of Experts (14 persons), representing mass-media and non-governmental organizations working in the field of freedom of expression and access to information. 

The report is based on the results of a current monitoring, concrete cases of violation of the access to information, summaries of questionnaires which had been filled in by both public servants and information solicitors and various group discussions.

The assessment was carried out in accordance with the international practice in the field and focused on four main indicators:

-legal framework for the exercise of the right to information;

- the degree of availability of the public institution to provide information;

- the efficiency of the public institution in reacting to the information requests;

-the accessibility of the Media to the official information.

Evaluation scale represents 0 – 5 points (maximum).

I. Reactions. Concrete actions.
During the forth quarter of the year 2008 a series of activities included in the Action Plan for the Strengthening of the Communication System have been carried out with a view to the implementation of the Government Communication Strategy. All central administrative authorities have been obliged to create subdivisions or to appoint PR staff in order to facilitate access to information for the media. A disposition was issued stipulating that persons responsible for communication with the media should be subordinated directly to the head of institution and receives the head’s full support in settling information requests. This statute needs to be confirmed by the standard regulation of the press service and the Standard Index Card, which have been worked out by the Press Service of the Government and are to be approved by all subordinated institutions to the Government. As a result of the recommendations made by the media NGO’ s, the adoption and implementation of the Regulation on the accreditation of journalists to the Government was ceased.
Many officials from PR services of the central institutions, police commissariats and other institutions have been trained within the Strengthening Civil Society Monitoring Capacity in Moldova (SCSMCM), funded by the U.S. Government through the Millennium Challenge Corporation and managed by the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), within the framework of the Threshold Country Program for Moldova. SCSMCM is implemented by the Academy for Educational Development (AED), with technical support from the International Research & Exchanges Board (IREX)

Taking account of the recommendations given by the Group of Experts in the previous assessment reports, Parliament has finally adopted the Law on Transparency in the Decision Making Process. The constructive collaboration of the Parliamentary Legal Commission for Appointments and Immunities, and also of Government Apparatus, with the representatives of non-governmental organisations is worth to be mentioned. Thus, the given commission was able to preserve and defend a series of provisions of key importance for the effect of the law. For example, the list of authorities falling under the incidence of the law is made up of Parliament, President, Government; a separate article refers to the public institutions’ obligation to draft and make public concrete data on the ensurance of the transparency in the decision making process on annual basis. Regretfully, in the same period the Law on the State Secret was adopted (not promulgated yet ) which was worked out in great secrecy, and during its examination in the first and second reading the recommendations and proposals submitted by the non-governmental organisations were not taken into account. The recommendations made by several international organisations, which gave clear signals on the great risks caused by the application of the Law on State Secret were not considered either.  
The Public – Private Working Group for the Strengthening of the Press is in function.  In conformity with the Action Plan for the consolidation of the Government Communication System, the Code of Ethics for the public authorities’ relations with the media should be worked out.

The “Acces-info” centre has established Supporting Groups in all districts of the country made up of public servants, Media representatives, non-governmental organizations, librarians, lawyers, which have been trained in a series of training courses and seminars. 

II. Analysis, opinions, appreciations 
Criteria 1. Legal framework on the exercise of the right to information 
1.1. In general, the national legislation creates favourable conditions for the exercise of the right to information, both through the provision of the Republic of Moldova Constitutions (adopted on 29 July 1994, Official Monitor no. 1 from 12.08.1994), and through those of the Law on Access to Information (no. 982-XIV from 11.05.2000, Official Monitor no. 88-90 from 28.07.2000). It should be mentioned that there are over 400 legislative acts from all fields– activity of public institutions, economy, culture, science, education, labour, health, ecology, foreign relations etc.

1.2. As a rule, the provisions of the normative acts do comply with the Law on Access to Information. However, some of them, as it was mentioned in the last report, need to be abrogated, amended or updated, and in particular:

- Law on the Adoption of the Parliament Rules of Procedure (no. 797-XVI from 02.04.1996, Official Monitor no. 50 from 07.04.2007);

- Law on the Statute of Member of Parliament (no. 39-XIII from 07.04.1994, Official Monitor no. 4/78 from 3.04.1994);

- Law on Legislative Acts (no. 780-XV from 27.12.2001, Official Monitor no. 36-38 from 14.03.2002);

- Law on the Government (no. 64-XII from 31.05.1990, Official Monitor no. 131 from 26.09.2002);

- Law on Informatization and State Informational Resources (no. 467-XV from 21.11.2003, Official Monitor no. 6 from 01.01.2004);

- Law of the Press (no. 243-XIII from 26.10.1994, Official Monitor no. 2 from 12.01.1995);
- Law on the Code of Conduct of the Public Servant (no. 243-XVI from 11.04.2008, Official Monitor no. 74-75 from 01.01.2008);

- Law on the State Secret (no. 106-XIII from 17.05.1994, Official Monitor no. 2 from 25.08.1994);

- Law on the Commercial Secret (no. 171-XIII from 06.07.1994, Official Monitor no. 13 from 10.11.1994):

- Law on Petitions (no. 190-XIII from 19.07.1994, Official Monitor no. 6 from 24.01.2000);

- Government Decisions on the activity of ministries, services, bureaus.
Note: For concrete proposals and recommendations on the amendment of some normative acts,  seeing Report (1) on assessing the access to official information in the Republic of Moldova and in the Study “Normative Acts: compliance with the Law on Access to Information”, “Acces-info” Centre, Chisinau, 2007.

1.3. The recently adopted Law on Transparency in the Decision Making Process (no. 239-XVI from 13.11.2008 Official Monitor no. 215-217/798 from 05.12.2008), is conditioned by the need for the establishment of certain principles and modalities for ensuring transparency in the decision –making process within the public authorities and for the creation of a viable mechanism of citizens’ and civil society’s involvement in the process of decisions drafting and taking. The insufficiency in the regulation of the decision-making process generates the lack of knowledge and trust of the people in the role and importance of the normative acts, the passiveness in their application and enforcement. At the same time, the consistent implementation of the principle of transparency will not generate greater trust in laws and regulations unless these laws and regulations are taken in concert with the population. 

The Law on Transparency in the Decision Making Process creates necessary conditions for enhancing the dialogue between central and local public authorities, on the one hand and the population and their organisations, on the other. This should be done by the means of three important mechanisms: informing of the public about the activity of the public authorities; participation of the public in the decision-making process; participation of the public in the decision-taking process. Unlike the Law on Access to Information, which ensures the public access to already adopted official documents, the Law on Transparency in the Decision Making process provides citizens and their organisations with the possibility to active participate in the decision –making process through suggestions, proposals, recommendations addressed to the public authorities at the moment of their initiation.
The recommendations submitted by citizens and their organisations are to be examined by the decision- making bodies who will decide whether to include them in the final text of the decision or not. The Law also provides for the possibilities of the interested parties to take part in the sessions of the public authorities and to express their opinions on the debated decisions or acts.
1.4. Parliament adopted in final reading the new Law on State Secret, the author of the draft is the Intelligence and Security Service. It was already approved by the Government, but the opinions given to the draft have been kept secret. Previously, media organizations voiced bewilderment and concern about the way the draft law was worked out. The initiative for the drafting of a new law on state secret was launched by President Voronin in April this year. It was announced that the new law will include the reduction of number of acts and documents classified as secret.  The authors involved in the development of the new draft law rejected all the requests of the civil society organizations for obtaining the text of the draft in order to be consulted. The draft law was inserted on the webpage of the Parliament. The proposals made by “Acces-info” Centre to put the draft under debates with parliamentarians and its authors were not replied to. The draft, in its current version, could seriously prejudice the access to official information, since it contains essential deviations from the international practice and standards. The provisions of the law leaves much space for interpretations, fact that makes possible the secretisation of practically any type of information.    
The Global Campaign for Freedom of Expression “Article 19” (London) submitted a series of recommendations which were not taken into account by the authors of the law. Mostly, they referred to:

- in case of discrepancy between the provisions of the Law on Secret Information and the Law on Access to Information, the later will prevail;
- the private persons should not be obliged to keep secret the information they create or hold, except cases when they have this obligation in the virtue of some contractual relations with the public sector;
- the types of information subjected to secrecy  shall be precisely defined, vague formations shall be excluded;
- only the information that may seriously prejudice the nations security will be classified as secret;
- the law shall include provisions regarding the priority of the public interest, providing for the possibility of disclosing information in the case when the public interest prevails over the prejudice caused by the public knowing of this information;
- the law shall ensure an efficient revision of the secret information and its declassification when it ceased to be confidential;

- the categories of information which shall not be classified should be substantially extended;

- the law shall protect persons disclosing information related to irregularities committed by institutions who act with good will and reasonable confidence that the information is veridical and denounce illegal acts;
- only public authorities, their employees and the persons having special authorised access to information shall bear the responsibility for the protection of the state secret;
- the law shall limit access to information which may cause damage to national security only;

- the role of Parliament in the process of supervising the secret policy shall be increased but not reduced.
1.5. Parliament has modified the Law on Editorial Activity (no. 939-XIV from 20.04.2000, Official Monitor no. 70-72 from 22.06.2000), including art 14 par. (6) containing the following provision: “The publication of works contradicting the current legislation is strictly forbidden. The responsibility for the realisation of the given provision lies on both editor and beneficiary of the work and the author”. Initially, the daft law provided for a stipulation which generated series of protests from writers and editors: “The publication of works contesting and defaming the state and the people, propagation of aggressive war, incitement for discrimination, territorial separatism, and public violence, as well as other manifestations attempting to the constitutional regime of the state is prohibited by law”. Although the adopted text has been proofread and has a more general character, his content remains to be vague and disputed, leaving much space for interpretations.
The normative act denotes the inconsistency of the legislation: on the one hand, it prohibits censorship, on the other hand, it legitimise it by installing an interdiction for publication. Any apriori interdiction for publication is an act of censorship, leaving the editor free to deicide matters which are not under his competence (which are under the competence of justice), introducing in this way the arbitrary element which may generate abuses from behalf of the state or another party.
1.6. The non-governmental organizations working the field of access to information and freedom of expression continue the examination and promotion of the following draft laws:

- Law on Freedom of Expression;

- Law on Amending the Criminal Code, with the provision related to the application of sanctions for intentionally preventing media activity and intimidation of citizens for their criticism;

- Law on Amending the Administrative Code, with sanctions for the application or favouring censorship.

- Law on amending the Law no. 96-XVI from 13 April 2007 on Public Procurements;
- Association of Independent Press worked out a draft law on the modification of art. 103 of the Fiscal Code with a clear stipulation that the publicity services in periodicals (except those with an advertising or erotic character) to be exempted from VAT and the draft law for the modification of art. 14 of the Law on publicity, by proposing the increase of the admitted publicity quota in the periodical up to 50% of their volume. Both drafts have been debated during a meeting of the Public Private Working Group for the Strengthening of the Press. 

1.7. Some Draft laws on the modification and amendment of the legislation for improving the legal framework and economic status of the media sector are currently under examination (non-governmental organisations, within the Strengthening Civil Society Monitoring Capacity in Moldova (SCSMCM), implemented by Academy for Educational Development (AED), with the technical support of the International Research and Exchange Board (IREX)).

1.8. The Government is due to adopt a series of regulations for the central public authorities aiming at improving the communication with the media. Amongst them, we can mention the Regulation on the activity of the PR subdivisions within central authorities. The Job Description for the PR officer is also under elaboration.  

1.9. In November 2007 the Government sent for expertise the Draft Law on amending par. (3) art. 32 of the Constitution of the Republic of Moldova to the Constitutional Court. 

The provisions of article 32 of Moldovan Constitution titled “Freedom of Opinion and Expression” provide that „all citizens are guaranteed the freedom of opinion as well as the freedom of publicly expressing their thoughts and opinions by way of word, image or any other means possible. (par.(1).  The freedom of expression may not harm the honour, dignity or the rights of other people to have and express their own opinions or judgements (par.(2). The law shall forbid and prosecute all actions aimed at denying and slandering the State or the people. Likewise shall be forbidden and prosecuted the investigations to sedition, war, aggression, ethnic, racial or religious hatred, the incitement to discrimination, territorial separatism, public violence, or other actions threatening constitutional order (par.(3)”.
The draft law amends par.(3) art. 32 of the Constitution as follows: “The law shall forbid and prosecute the investigations to sedition, war, aggression, ethnic, racial or religious hatred, the incitement to discrimination, territorial separatism, public violence, or other actions threatening constitutional order”. 

The Government proposes the amendment of par.(3) art. 32 of the Constitution with a view to ensure the compliance of the constitutional norms with art. 10 of the European Convention of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms and with the ECHR case law. According to art. 10 of the Convention, „everyone has the right to freedom of expression. This right shall include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart information and ideas without interference by public authority and regardless of frontiers”.  
The Government initiative on amending art. 32 of the Constitution was foreseen in the Human Rights National Action Plan for 2004-2008, approved by Parliament Decision no. 415-XV from 24 October 2003.

The Opinion of the Constitutional Court on the Draft Law on amending art. 32 of the Constitution of the Republic of Moldova mentions: “By condemning the actions aimed at denying and slandering the State or the people as well as the investigations to sedition, war, aggression, ethnic, racial or religious hatred, the incitement to discrimination, territorial separatism, public violence, the dispositions of par.(3) art. 32 of the Constitution, as well as the Criminal Code qualify them as acts threatening the constitutional order. Taking into account the constitutional provisions regarding the limits of the Constitution revision, the Court cannot accept the Government argument that the exclusion from the Constitution of the phrase “ denying and slandering the State or the people” will contribute to more efficient exercise of the freedom of opinion and expression. In the Court’s  view, denying and slandering the state and the people constitute acts threatening the constitutional order. Non- prohibiting, including by the Constitution, and not sanctioning these acts would have as effect the annihilation of the protection of the right of the Republic of Moldova state  to exist as a distinct geopolitical entity and the protection of the right of its people, as a titular of the national sovereignty, to its own identity.”

“The right to information shall not prejudice the measures necessary for the protection of citizens or national security; the media institutions, state or public, are obliged to ensure the objective informing of the public opinion. The protest rallies, demonstrations, manifestations or other processions or assemblies are free and can be organised by the citizens only in a peaceful manner. The parties and other social- political organisations contribute to defining and expressing the political will of the citizens, and those political formations that, by their aims or activities, plead against political pluralism, the principles of the law state, sovereignty and independence, territorial integrity of the Republic of Moldova are unconstitutional. The devotion to the country is a sacred obligation, and the defence of the country is  a holly right and duty of each citizen.” – states the Court’s Opinion.

Also the Court points out that the amendment of par.(3) art. 32 of the Constitution on replacing the phrase “as well as other manifestations” with the phrase “other violent actions” does not exceed the limits of constitutional revision provided for in art. 142 of the Constitution.

By the vote of 5 judges, the Constitutional Court gave a negative opinion to the Government initiative. In a separate opinion given by the judge Victor Puşcaş, he considers that the negative opinion to one part of the draft law on amending the Constitution is groundless and that the commitments assumed by the Republic of Moldova could be met only by the revision by the Constitutional Court of its own opinion, because the Government initiative would contribute to ensuring the exercise of the freedom of opinion and expression.

According to the preamble of the opinion, the Constitutional Court made its findings on the basis of the documents sent by the Government, the opinions expressed by the President of the Republic of Moldova, Institute of History, State and Law of the Science Academy, the report of the judge- raporteur and the arguments presented by representatives of the Parliament and the Government. 
Vasile Botnaru (“Free Europe” Radio Channel):

“The legislative body, like other institutions- pillars has passed through the romanticism phase when voting the Law on Access to Information, after which the pragmatism phase interfered with a rectification of the permissive spirit of the law by adopting the Law on the Sate Secret, for instance. The Law on Access to Information is net superior to the degree of interest for public information, interest which is still at an embryonic stage and the press is the one who tries to convince the public to ask for its right to access to information”. 

Eugeniu Rîbca (Electronic Press Association “APEL”):

“The European and international standards in the field of access to information were not taken into account when adopting the overwhelming majority of the normative acts related to the protection of information with limited accessibility. Consequently, these laws contain stipulations which run counter the Law on Access to Information. The presence of the stipulations related to the public interest or the triple test in these laws is an exception. In essence, we have a problem with a surprisingly simple solution: to include in the law some referrals (as a technical- legislative means) to the Law on Access to Information”.

Cornelia Cozonac (Centre of Investigative Journalism):

“The legislation regarding the confidentiality of the business (commercial secret) does not correspond to the evolutions in the respective sphere. In many cases, the public institutions refuse to disclose information of public interest like, for example,  the volume of electric energy imported in Moldova and its prise, or the production of cigarettes. In both cases the Customs Service and the National Statistics Service refused to provide this information invoking the commercial secret. The legislative framework related to information classified as commercial secret should be clearly regulated, so that citizens, journalists and public officials should know where the line between public and secret information is”.

Eugen Uruşciuc ( “Monitor Media” Agency):

“In the Republic of Moldova there is no delimitation between public and private life at the level of mentality of public servants /elected officials. In most of cases, the public servants/ elected officials confuse purposely or less purposely these two notions. There are cases when the public servant who became a public subject, pretends the violation of his private life. Similar cases have been registered when journalists were reporting from public or party events”.

Viorel Cibotaru (European Institute of Political Studies):

“There are positive trends as regards the protection of the persons reporting irregularities, including corruption acts, but there is no propitious and coherent normative framework and there is not sufficient trust in the legislative mechanisms yet”.

The Group of Experts assesses the indicator regarding the national legal framework for the exercise of the right to information at 3,3. (The score for the third quarter was 3.12, for the second quarter - 2, 71 and for the first quarter - 2.48 points).

Criterion 2.  The availability of public institutions to provide information 

2.1. According to the Law on Access to Information, public institutions should equip a special room(s) for documentation accessible to the public. This provision is still more of a wish than a reality, especially in the case of public institutions at the district level. Although the majority of institutions appointed responsible persons for the implementation of official information distribution, many of these employees cannot exercise their functions. Many, even though being trained by various NGOs programs and by the Academy of Public Administration, cannot perform their duties because there is no internal, clear mechanism adjusted to the specifics of the institution for communication with the public and ensuring access to information. 
Nadine Gogu (Independent Journalism Centre):
“In general, the majority of central institutions have special employees responsible for providing information to the public, but the first impression after discussing with these people is that, before being placed in their positions, they had been trained how to avoid answering and providing official information. In many institutions, there is the rule that the information is provided by the head only”.    

Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency ):

“Unfortunately the access to the majority of central public administration institutions is extremely limited, and the procedures to be followed at the permits desks are quite bureaucratic. The access to such institutions is hardly to be realised. The only exceptions are the local public administration bodies”.    

2.2. However, for a greater impact and to produce real changes within public institutions it is necessary to invite to the training courses not only the subordinates but also the heads of public institutions on whom implementation of the Law on access to information, informational management and cooperation with the civil society depend. Obviously, this activity should be undertaken by the public authorities, with the support of the non-governmental organizations.
Tudor Iaşcenco (“Cuvîntul” newspaper, Rezina):

“Public servants have been trained within different seminars, training courses, workshops, round tables organised by “Acces-info” Centre and other non-governmental organisations. However,  this knowledge is not used in practice, because of their de- factor position. As a rule, the given servants don’t do anything without the permission of their superiors who measure the information at their convenience”.  

Eugen Uruşciuc (“Monitor Media” Agency):

“At central level, the things evolve. More problematic is the situation in the countryside, where PR officers perform as a rule some other obligations”. 

2.3. There are many public institutions where the public servants make efforts to provide necessary assistance and support to members of the public in their search and identification of requested information; however, it is still a problem for requesters to access registries with data about available official information.

More important is that the requestors even do not know about the existence of these registries.
Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency):

“As regards the assistance and support offered to the information solicitors in searching and identifying information, public institutions could be divided into three groups: who hive a help in searching and identifying information; who do not help searching and identifying information, but on the contrary make everything possible  for hiding it and not getting into troubles and those who offer information, but on commercial principles. The situation will improve only with the prohibition of  providing information for money, establishing concrete mechanisms for sanctioning officials and institutions who intentionally keep information secret, and making a clear delimitation of the attributions of the PR officer ad the one dealing with image of the organisation”.         

Constantin Marin (Journalism and Communication Science Department, State University of Moldova):

“As a rule,  persons responsible or / mandated with providing assistance and support in searching and identifying information have other additional obligations and activities which are to the detriment of the obligation of assisting information solicitors”.

Viorel Cibotaru (European Institute of Political Studies):

“Some institutions provide assistance and support to information solicitors in identifying information, but this fact defers from case to case. It depends on the institution, in some of them there are certain traditions, the number of solicitors is very big (medicine, social assistance, agriculture – good examples), in others– there is pure bureaucracy and very cheeky bureaucracy (culture, education)”.

2.4. According to the Law on Access to Information, public authorities and institutions should immediately broadcast data revealed to them during the development of their own activities if such information can prevent or diminish threats to life and health of people, or the threat of producing some other prejudice; it can stop the spread of untruthful information or diminish negative consequences of their spread; in this, they have a special social importance. In this context, although the experts reported on the lack of promptness and efficiency in actively informing the population during the last august floods, the bodies in charge did not seriously examine how operatively and realistically had the central, district and local bodies informed the population about the risks of the floods.

Tudor Iaşcenco (“Cuvîntul” Newspaper, Rezina):

“Everything depends on the personnel of the institutions and their traditions. In winter 2008 there were some massive ecological incidents in the district of Rezina. As a result, the air was seriously polluted with heavy metals. The examinations made by ecologists proved the exceeding of the concentration of heavy metals and oil products in the snow with some hundreds times. At the same time, the primary medicine institution from the district reported an increased number of respiratory and gastrointestinal diseases, of tuberculosis and others. Cuvîntul newspaper signalled in several of its issues the situation and tried to attract the Ministry of Health and Ministry of Ecology in conducting a multilateral investigation of the situation in the area ( which is considered to be one of the most polluted in Moldova), in establishing the main sources for pollution and the possibilities for redressing the situation. The publication sent four letters to the Ministry of Health, each time receiving formal answers”. 

Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency):

“It is not enough that this type of information is not urgently spread out, but everything possible is done for not spreading it out at all. The reason – for not creating panics. The year 2008 offered us several arguments in this sense. For example, the crisis on the financial market or the floods striking the country. The authorities, who were to provide urgently this kind of information, proceed hiding them, preventing any activity of informing the public”.        

Viorel Cibotaru (European Institute of Political Sciences):

“The system is over centralised, in some situation everybody is expecting the order from” the boss”, that is from a singe person, although they have both competency and obligation in the virtue of the law to act in a respective way”.

2.5. At least once a year public institutions are obliged to produce guidelines which include lists of dispositions, organizational decisions and other official documents issued by the respective institutions, as well as fields in which they can distribute information. Unfortunately, aside from a few isolated incidences, this mandate looks good only on paper because of a lack of financial resources allocated for this activity at national, district or local levels.

Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency):

“At least, the central public administration does this, not particularly because they are pleading for greater transparency, but because otherwise their decisions cannot enter into force. Often, only the technical part of the decision is made public (for example, letter x from document y is excluded), without giving any argument or explanations”.       

Eugen Uruşciuc (“Monitor Media” Agency):

“The situation differs from one territorial administrative unit to another. In some districts, the authorities publish integrally the decisions in the local media, in others – selectively. There are districts where the authorities make the first steps in bringing transparency in their activity”. 

2.6. An extremely small number of institutions make the following information available to the public: description of institution’s structure; address; terms of reference; description of institutional divisions and activities; description of subdivisions and their competences; working hours; and other data. Here we refer to information panels in institutions’ premises, and published materials including those regarding meeting agendas and organizational decisions (those under discussion as well as those adopted). 

Eugen Uruşciuc (“Monitor Media” Agency):

“The authorities are dominated by the stereotype that the public is aware of the role of each public institutions. In reality, only few people know which the attributions of the mayor, for example, or the municipal or local council are. In state institutions, as a rule, there are no informative panels with simple and clear-cut information about the attributions of these bodies. Although all districts have their local media, financed from the public money, they do not perform their role of informers in this sense”. 

2.7. In comparison with the first quarter, to some extent, the contents of public authorities’ official web sites have significantly improved. A milestone in this respect was the Regulation adopted by Government Decision no. 668 of 19.06.2006 and the requirements established for official web sites elaborated by the Ministry of Informational Development.

2.8. This Regulation defines the notion of “official web page” as “a set of official information in electronic form with means of interactive dialogue which are provided for citizens within the Internet network by public administration authority.” It is worth underlying: interactive dialogue because this is the essence of web pages.
From those 56 public central institutions, three do not have official web pages:  Agency “Apele Moldovei”, Transports Agency and the State Archives Service.
Providing possibility for receiving interpellations and sending or publishing the requested information on the Internet. Most of institutions make use of the standard electronic message, which offers each user the possibility to express his wishes. The disadvantage of this system is that it does not provide the citizen with a fixed term for receiving an answer, as well as with the safety that the message was received.
Publication of information about the structure of the public authorities, data on the tasks and functions of its subdivisions, postal addresses, contact numbers and details o the address of the public authority, data on the institutions subordinated to the public authorities (list of organisations, their postal address and contact details; objectives and functions, data on their establishment, reorganisation or liquidation, number of employees, basic indicators of their activity), telephone numbers of the information services of the public authorities.. 

These criteria are met by the Government Apparatus (www.gov.md); Court of Accounts (www.ccrm.md); Intelligence and Security Service (www.sias.md); Customs Service (www.customs.gov.md); Centre for Combating Economic Crimes and Corruptions (www.cccec.md); Ministry of Agriculture and Food Industry (www.maia.gov.md); Ministry of Education and Youth (www.edu.md); Ministry of the Interior (www.mai.gov.md); National Agency for Competition Protection (www.anpc.md). These criteria are not met by the Parliament Apparatus (www.parlamet.md) – there are no information on the activity of MPs, commissions, there is no possibility to have an interactive dialogue with them; State Administration for Civil Aviation (www.caa.md) – there are no contact numbers of the public officials of the institution; National agency for Energy Regulation (www.anre.md) – no contact details of the institution; Ministry of Culture and Tourism (www.turism.gov.md ) – very brief information about its activity. The least corresponding web page is that of the Agency for Forestry “Moldsilva” (www.modsilva.gov.md).

Data on the leadership of the public authorities and the public servants (name, surname, function) from the public authority which provides information in verbal form. Diverse information and data in this aspect provides the Apparatus of the President (www.presedinte.md); Government Apparatus (www.gov.md); Ministry of Construction and Territory Development (www.mcgt.gov.md); Ministry of Informational Development (www.mdi.gov.md); Centre for Combating Economic Crimes and Corruption (www.cccec.md); Science Academy (www.asm.md). Very brief information is offered on the web pages of the Ministry of Education and Youth (www.edu.md) – no data on the activity of the deputy- minister  and the name of representatives of departments and sections; Ministry of Justice (www.justice.gov.md) – no data about the internal structure, leadership, workers; Ministry of Reintegration (www.reintegrarea.gov.md), Bureau of Interethnic Relationships (www.bri.gov.md), Agency for Material Purveyance, Public Procurements and Humanitarian Aid (www.tender.md) – it is specified that the information will be shortly displayed.
The list of the current legislative and normative acts regulating the activity of the public institution, including: data of the official publication, introduction of modifications and amendments to the normative act; data on the abrogated normative and legislative acts. This requirement is respected by the Supreme Court of Justice (www.scjustice.md); General prosecutor’ s Office (www.procuratura.md); Intelligence and Security Service (www.sis.md); Ministry of Economy and Trade (www.mec.gov.md); Ministry of Justice (www.justice.md); Land Relations and Cadastre Agency (www.arfc.gov.md); Sports Agency (www.sport.gov.md); Central Electoral Commission (www.cec.md). Incomplete information are on the web pages of the Economic Court of Appeal http://caeconomica.justice.md), Ministry of reintegration (www.reintegrarea.gov.md), Agency “Moldsilva”(www.moldsilva.gov.md); Agency “Moldova–Vin” (www.aamv.gov.md

 HYPERLINK "http://www.mec.gov.md/"
). On the web page of the President Apparatus on the Constitution and the state symbols are present. 
Data on the activity of legislative creation of the public authorities (texts of the draft laws, concepts etc.) during its drafting stage. Wide information is presented on the web pages of the Parliament (www.parlament.md), Government (www.gov.md); General Prosecutor’ s Office (www.procuratura.md); Intelligence and Security Service (www.sis.md); State Fiscal Inspectorate (www.fisc.md); Customs Service (www.customs.gov.md); Ministry of Finance (www.mf.gov.md). No information of this kind is given by the web pages of the Economic Court of Appeal (http://caeconomica.justice.md); Interethnic Relations Bureaus (www.bri.gov.md); Agency “Moldsilva” (www.moldsilva.gov.md); Agency “Moldova-Vin” (www.aamv.gov.md).

Publication of analytical reports and informative articles about the activity of the public authority. Similar reports are inserted on the web pages of the Constitutional Court (www.constcourt.md); State Agency for Intellectual Property (www.agepi.md); National Bank of Moldova (www.bmn.org); Ministry of Finance (www.mf.gov.md); Ministry of Culture and Tourism (www.turism.gov.md); Central Electoral Commission (www.cec.md); Broadcasting Coordinating Council (www.cca.md). Like in the previous case, this requirement is not met by the Economic Court of Appeal (http://caeconomica.justice.md); Bureau for Interethnic Relationships (www.bri.gov.md); Agency “Moldsilva” (www.moldsilva.gov.md); Agency “Moldova-Vin” (www.aamv.gov.md), and the Ministry of Justice (www.justice.gov.md).

Sample of requests and other documents provided by the law or other normative acts of the public authorities, accepted or examined by it, as well as instructions on their filling in. This kind of information is lacking from all monitored official web pages.
Data about citizens’ employment in the public service: list of current job vacancies in the public service, requirements for the candidates. Lists of job announcements are place don the web pages of the: Ministry of Finance (www.mf.gov.md), Ministry of Ecology and Natural Resources (www.mediu.gov.md), Ministry of Health (www.ms.gov.md), National Statistics Bureau (www.statistica.md).
Data about the planning and execution of budgets by the public administration authorities is provided only by the Ministry of Finance (www.mf.gov.md), Ministry of Constructions and Territorial Development (www.mcdt.gov.md), Border State Service (www.border.gov.md).

Data about the results of the controls and checks performed within public administration authorities. As a rule, this segment is traditionally neglected.
Official statistics and basic indicators from the field of activity of the public administration authority is placed on the web pages of the Government Apparatus (www.gov.md), National Statistics Bureau (www.statistica.md), Agency “Moldova-Vin” (www.aamv.gov.md); Agency for Material Purveyance, Public Procurements and Humanitarian Aid (www.tender.md), Centre for Combating Economic Crimes and Corruption (www.cccec.md). Information on statistical data is not offered by the Broadcasting Coordinating Council (www.cca.md), Border State Service (www.border.gov.md), Sports Agency (www.sport.gov.md) etc. 
List of international organisations which the given authority is part to or the treaties and agreements for which implementation the authority is responsible. Relevant information at this chapter is provided by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and European Integration (www.mfa.gov.md), Ministry of Education and Youth (www.edu.gov.md), Ministry of Health (www.ms.gov.md), National Statistic Bureau (www.statistica.md), Customs Service (www.coustoms.gov.md).

Information published on the official web pages of the public administration authorities will be permanently updated based on data modification. The web pages of the following institutions provide the population with up to date news, events, operative information etc: the Apparatus of the President (www.presedinte.md); Government Apparatus (www.gov.md); Court of Accounts (www.ccrm.md); Customs Service (www.coustoms.gov.md); Ministry of Education and Youth (www.edu.md); Ministry of Social protection, Family and Child (www.mpsfc.gov.md); sites presenting 3 -6 days old information: National Agency for Competition Protection (www.anpc.md); national Statistic Bureau (www.statistica.md); Sports Agency (www.sport.gov.md); Licence Chamber (www.licenţiere.gov.md). Web pages with information 1 month or more old: Bureau of Interethnic Relations (www.bri.gov.md) information from 26.09.04; Economic Court of Appeal (http://caeconomica.justice.md ); information from: 29.09.08; Agency for Material Purveyance, Public Procurements and Humanitarian Aid (www.tender.md) information from: 29.10.08.

Data on public procurements. It should be noted that on the official page of the Government (www.gov.md) only the phrase “public procurement” could be found. Last information was placed on 14 August, while only in October the Government Apparatus is listed five times in the Public Procurements Bulletin. The same institution is frequently mentioned in the advertising notices regarding the contracts concluded as a result of public tenders. The web page of the Court of Accounts (www.ccrm.md) has separate „Public Procurements” containing information on: the working group; public procurements plan for 2008; Public procurements – useful information, but lacking current information on the agreements and contracts concluded by the institution. The webpage of the General Prosecutor’s Office (www.procuratura.md) mentions the phrase „public procurements” when reporting on the activity of the prosecutors. The Customs Service (www.customs.gov.md) provides the same information included in the Public Procurements Bulletin, but in some cases the information is not complete. The web pages of the Ministry of Finance (www.mf.gov.md), Ministry of Ecology and Natural Resources (www.mediu.gov.md), Ministry of Social Protection, Family and Child (www.mpsfc.gov.md), Standardisation and Metrology Service (www.ssm.gov.md), Academy of Science of Moldova (www.asm.md) presents the link “Public Procurements” but it does not contain information about tenders, agreements and contracts concluded by the institutions. Among the institutions informing systematically the public through press releases, announcements, informative notes on public procurements are the Ministry of Education and Youth (www.edu.md), Ministry of Justice (www.justice.gov.md), National Bank of Moldova (www.bnm.org). Most official web pages contain insufficient and incomplete information about the public procurements, without concretising certain data, amounts etc. 
It should be mentioned that although the Presidency, Parliament and law enforcement agencies  do not fall under the incidence of the Regulation on the way of publishing the information on official web pages, they have been monitored by the Group of Experts.
2.9. Like in the previous Report, the experts consider that for an active informing of the public, the elaboration and updating of the official web-pages should be done in accordance with the relevant regulations; each institution shall draft its own internal regulations stipulating the order of publishing and up-dating of information on the official web-pages, appoint persons responsible for the administration and up-dating of the official web-pages, and organize a series of seminars and training courses for the representatives of the public institutions.

Eugen Uruşciuc (“Monitor Media” Agency):

“The situation with the web pages differs depending of the hierarchy of the institution. The things go well at the level of Presidency, Parliament, Government, governmental agencies. Still, there are institutions which do not care about the way their virtual face / image (web pages) look like. The Agency of Transports and the Agency “Apele Moldovei” do not have web pages at all, and the page of “Moldsilva” Agency represents the model how a governmental web page should NOT look like. The informative part of the web pages leaves much to be desired in most of cases. The texts published on some web pages are not useful to the users. A disastrous state of things is with the local state institutions. Either they do not have web page sat all, or (if they are) they are not veritable tools of information for the public”. 

Cornelia Cozonac (Centre of Investigative Journalism):

“The information about the expenditure of the public money, the administration of budgets, including National Programmes remains a taboo subject for the population. It is practically impossible to find information about the donations made by the citizens for the reparation of monasteries. The information on public tenders is also extremely vague. Only selective information on tenders is published in the Public Procurements Bulletin, but this information is not complete and therefore it makes difficult for the journalists to follow public tenders. Often it happens that the citizens do not know how the offers have been selected, no information about the bidders and how a certain economic agent was selected as the tender’s winner. This situation is valid for all public spheres, but in particular, this is true in the field of medicine”.         

Vasile Botnaru (“Free Europe” Radio Channel):

 “In my opinion, the authorities certify, in spite of the possibilities offered by Internet technologies, the etymological impossibility to take in depth the tools of democracy, skating instead on the surface of some imitative gestures”.
Eugen Uruşciuc (“Monitor Media” Agency):

“This is an answer given by the authorities from Bălţi to a question posted on the web page: http://www.balti.md/index.php?option=com_simplefaq&task=answer&Itemid=120&catid=87&aid=38 

Question: What is the nominal and de facto wage of the Balti mayor? 
Answer (In the Russian language): In accordance with the current legislation:

1.) "Law on the system of payment of work in the budgetary sphere" Law no 355 - XVI from 23.12.2005 .\2.) Government Decision no. 525 from 16.05.2006. "on the payment of work of public servants and workers performing technical activities ".”

2.10. The sitting of the public authorities and institutions should be public, except in the cases provided by the law, but there is no functional mechanism for the citizens’ participation in them, in particular at ministerial level. At the level of district and local councils, the problems with citizens’ participation in sittings are insignificant.

Tudor Iaşcenco (“Cuvîntul” newspaper, Rezina):

“The sessions of the public institutions are public, but the citizens, with slight exceptions,  do not participate in these sessions. After the sessions are broadcast live on the Rezina local TV channel “Elita”,. I have discussed with citizens several times trying to find out the reason for not participating in sessions, even when current important problems for the community are debated in the local council. Most of people consider the participation in these sessions useless”.

Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency):

“If talking about the plenary sessions of the Parliament and Government or the operative sessions of some mayoralties (Bălţi, Chişinău), then, with a great doze of exaggeration, they may be called public. This is only because of the partial access of the journalists, but not of the citizens. But if it goes about the internal working meetings, then the access of the public, including that of the media, is very, very limited– practically inexistent”.           

Nadine Gogu (Independent Journalism Centre):
“The sessions within public institutions are public and media or other interested person may participate in them, but only based on priory received authorisations, special invitations or accreditations. The participation of citizens in the sessions of the public institutions is possible, but practically unrealisable, in particular in top level sessions”. 

The group of experts assesses the indicator regarding availability of public institutions to provide information at 2.2 (The score for the third quarter was 2, 21, in the second quarter was 1, 97 and in the first quarter was 1,84).

Criterion 3. The promptness of public institutions' reaction to information requests

3.1. As it was stressed in the previous two reports, it is very difficult to find the right person in the public institution responsible for providing information in order to fill in a information request.

Not always you can find exact answers on the competencies of the PR officers, especially when talking by phone.
Oleg Cristal (independent journalist): 

“The bureaucracy has its negative effects. Often referrals are made „from one bureau to another”, in order to pass the responsibility to someone else’ shoulders. Usually, representatives of public institutions give their own appreciations to the  information requests, qualifying them as “not important”, “provocative”, “inadequate” etc. If the information request relates to some sensitive information, there are increased chances to receive an incomplete answer or not to receive it at all”. 

Cornelia Cozonac (Centre of Investigative Journalism): 

“There are public institutions that have internal regulations prohibiting the employees to communicate with journalists except through the press service. These regulations also establish certain payments for providing information of public interest. As a rule, the respective documents are not placed on the institutions web pages and, consequently, are not public”. 

3.2. Often the physical access of citizens for submitting requests to the public institutions is difficult, not even talking about receiving some concrete advices on how to find some information. Unfortunately, many institutions prefer to use the practice of the „entry mailbox”. That is, citizens have to cast their inquiries, documents, petitions in the mailbox placed at the entry of the office and not to register then officially at the secretariat. In this way, the officials can easily avoid answering the inconvenient requests on the ground of receiving no documents officially. The means of proof in this case are minimal. More serious is the case of the institutions which continue to provide information for money. 
Petru Macovei (Independnet Press Association):

“Often solicitors have to “communicate” with mail boxes for petitions or with the guardians of the public institutions who receive letters and usually do not register them”.

3.3. According to the last monitoring results, a great part of institutions already used to keep to the legal terms provided for answering information requests (15 working days). However, many public servants did not carefully analyse the essence of the Law on Access to Information, which provides that “requested information, documents will be put at the disposal of the solicitors from the moment of their availability for delivery, but not later than 15 working days since the registration of the information request”. Thus, in most of cases, even when the information may be released ex officio, it is sent just before the expiration of the term. At the same time, according to the Law on Access to Information, the term for answering information requests may be prolonged with 5 working days by the head of the public institution (the request refers to a very big volume of information which needs selection, additional consultations for meeting the request). Usually the institutions do not respect the legal provision on the need of informing the information solicitor about any prolongation of the term 5 days before the expiration of the initial term”.
3.4. In principle, public institutions do respect the provisions of the Law on Access to Information as regards payments, their amount and procedures to be established by the respective bodies, the accumulated sums being transferred to the state budget. However, solicitors meet difficulties in obtaining data from land cadastres / registers, State Registration Chamber, in some cases the institutions do not respect the provision of the law when fixing the amount of the costs of the information “the amount of fees/ payments will not exceed the amount of the costs supported by the information provider for making copies, sending them to the solicitors”. By now, there is no practice for paying fees for receiving analytical, synopsis or sensitive information, prepared especially for the solicitor on the basis of a contract between the information provider and solicitor. Not all the institutions make known the way of establishing the fees. Also the following provision of the law needs to be respected “the official information directly affecting the solicitors’ rights or liberties; provided orally; requested for being examined within the premises of the institution; or contributes to the increase of transparency in the public institution’ s activity and correspond to the society’ s interest will be provided for free”. 
Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency):

“The National Statistics Bureau and the State Registration Chamber made veritable businesses from this affair. These institutions motivate the established fees by the costs supported in the process of preparing the information for release, but are absolutely obvious that in many cases the solicited price is much above the efforts taken by the public servant. For example, the State Registration Chamber has its own data base and the only thing to do is to print out the page with the solicited info. Or, this effort for sure does not cost 35 lei, which is the established tax”.          

Cornelia Cozonac (Centre of Investigative Journalism): 
“Usually the information about the public persons is classified as private, or even is treated as state secret, when the situation should be the opposite. The information about state dignitaries shall be more transparent. It is practically impossible to get information about the firms leading or having as members MPs, ministers or other persons from the president’ s team. All our requests to the State Registration Chamber and Cadastre Services for obtaining this kind of information were in vain for the simple reason that this information is treated as private. In some cases we were provided information for money, but the price was pretty high: 120-150 lei for information about a single economic agent. In Romania, for example like in many other European state the information from the Cadastre Office and Registration Office is public”.        

3.5. Usually written refusals do not comply with provisions of the law. The reason for refusal, references to the normative act on which basis a refusal is given and clear indication of an appeal procedure for a refusal are not indicated. The written refusals, as a rule, do not comply with the provisions of the law stipulating that: “the refusal to provide information, an official document will be made in written, with the indication of the date, name of the responsible person, the reason for the refusal, referral to the normative act (title, number, date of adoption, source of the official publication) on which the refusal is based, as well as the recourse procedure and the prescription term”.
3.6. Similar to the previous period, information access requests are registered under the category of petitions, which does not allow a systematic analysis leading to measures for redressing the situation. 

3.7. According to international practice, it is necessary to register access to information requests separately, and public institutions are obliged to write annual reports on statistics related to access to information field rejected by the institutions and information about the total number of information requests, the field of interests, requests refused and the reason for refusal, requests addressed to legal or physical persons; administrative reclamations, positively solved or rejected; cases in the court, settled, under examination or rejected; total costs of the PR office etc. This kind of statistics would be beneficial for the public institution itself, by providing precious information to be taking into consideration in improving the communication process with the citizens.
3.8. As a rule, the form of the request may influence positively or negatively the answer to the information request. Thus, institutions answer more conclusively to written requests, while oral requests form the subject of endless telephone labyrinths within public institutions. More over, the oral requests are not registered at all by public institutions. 

Usually if the information request is not sufficiently clear or needs a bigger volume of information, the representatives of the institutions do not contact the solicitors for clarifications or concretisations, but simply leave them out. The same thing is valid in the case of request for synopsis or analytical information. Usually the information holder notifies the solicitors about the need to conclude a special agreement within the limits of the law, without specifying the conditions for concluding the agreement.
Eugen Uruşciuc (“Monitor Media” Agency):

“If the information request was send by simple mail, there are all chances for this request not to be registered. There were lots of similar cases, and the solicitor could not prove that he really requested an institution certain information. The other situation is with the letters sent by recommended post”. 

Nadine Gogu (Independent Journalism Centre):
“In general, each solicitor may bring the request to the interested institution, but there is no certitude they will reach the addressee. When they are left in the entrance mail boxes, there is always the possibility for the servant to avoid answering them, claiming they received nothing. In most of cases, public servants want the requests to be signed or stamped. Moreover, the want to know the reason for requesting the information, although by the law, the solicitor is not obliged to give the reason for he needs a specific public  information”.

3.9. Not always and not in all cases the nature of the request (routine /complex/sensitive) influences the release of information. There are many examples when a series of institutions gave complete answers and within legal terms to complex requests, but there are also numerous example of written or tacit refusals to elementary information requests. More important is here the attitude of the given institution towards the ensuring of the legislation in the field of access to information. As a rule, public servants avoid answering information of private character (incomes declaration), related to public procurements, use of allocations received from the reserve funds, sanctioning of public servants, including in corruption cases.  
Nadine Gogu (Independent Journalism Centre):
“In the case of simple/ routine requests, simple/ routine answers are given. Unfortunately, the answers to the other requests are standard either, providing the same information one can easily find on the web page, for example. In the cases when the request is submitted by journalists or media institutions, the chances for receiving an answer, even formal, are much bigger than in the case of ordinary citizens”.

3.10. Although no monitoring of the impact of the efforts undertaken for obtaining information and the way in which they influence the result was carried out, in the experts’ opinion the promptness and complexity of the result depend to a great extent on the solicitor’ s insistence. This conclusion is more pertinent in the case of journalists and non-governmental organisations working in the field of access to information and freedom of expression. The referrals made to different cases in the court in the field of access to information which affected or may affect the image of the given institution influence the decision of the public institution to provide information.
Nadine Gogu (Independent Journalism Centre):
“Usually, the effort made for obtaining information has an influence on the result, but, in the case the public servant has to dedicate more time and energy for replying a request, he would prefer to take the usual  way of answering the letter and not the request...”.  

3.11. The quality and promptness of the answers depend as well on the category and level of the institutions. Traditionally, the high level institutions, including Parliament, Presidency, Government, most of ministries and law enforcement agencies are more receptive to information requests. The number of cases of limited access to information is increased in the case of district courts and police commissariats, decentralised structures and mayoralties.
Tudor Iaşcenco (“Cuvîntul” newspaper, Rezina):

“In most of cases the information requests are not replied to. Cuvîntul newspaper sent several information requests to district councils, Ministry of the Interior, Ministry of Agriculture and Food Industry, Ministry of Health, Ministry of Ecology and Natural Resources etc. As a rule, district councils from Orhei, Teleneşti react operatively and jointly interested in the newspaper’ s letters, those from Rezina treat us with formal answers or even forget to reply at all. The same situation is with the Ministry of the Interior or the Ministry of Agriculture and Food Industry”.

Eugeniu Rîbca (Association of Electronic Press “APEL”):

“At present the type of institution still has considerable influence on the replies offered to information requests. For example, some of the information providers developing business activities do not reply at all to information requests or use the well known „cliché” of the commercial secret in providing replies, which in fact means providing tacit refusals to information requests (example – State Company „Poşta Moldovei”). We are ascertaining the same lack of transparency and access to information in the law enforcement bodies (courts, prosecution offices, police commissariats). In particular, prosecution and police bodies from the countryside need special training in the field, which could contribute to the understanding of the needs of the media with a view to the active informing of the population on the role of the prosecution and police bodies in this process”.

3.12. Unfortunately, there is a difference as regards the attitude of the institutions towards the information solicitors. Despite the difficulties faced, the journalists and specialised non- governmental organisations, from Chisinau in particular, get easier the necessary information from public institutions. Different is the situation of journalists from the districts or ordinary citizens.
Cornelia Cozonac (Centre of Investigative Journalism):

“Public institutions are not open in helping journalists to identify the needed information. If the requested information needs more time for preparation, public institutions refuse to provide it. For example, at the our request related to the cases of cigarettes smuggling during the last 5 years and the way they have been investigated, the General Prosecutor’ s Office refused  to give an answer motivating that they do not have any statistical data on this and that a good reply would need a thorough analytical  study. In another case, the same institution found a much appreciated solution. When asking about the cases of poultry smuggling, the General Prosecutor’ s Office sent our request to all district prosecutor’ s offices, which sent in their turn reply. It is extremely difficult to obtain information from the Cadastre Service and State Registration Chamber, even for money. In many cases, the respective services refuse to provide answers to information requests.  In Romania, for example the interested persons may get subscription for the information from the State Registry. The subscription allows its holder to search any information of interest to him, and this thing is possible for every interested citizen of the country. In our country, this kind of information is secret”.                    
The Group of Experts assesses the indicator regarding the promptness of public institutions’ response to information requests at 2.1. (The score for the third quarter was 2, 21, for the second quarter was 1, 86 and for the first quarter was 2.03).
Criterion 4.  The access of the mass media to official information 

4.1. Lately public authorities and institutions have taken concrete measures recently to increase the efficiency of relations with mass media (Parliament, Government, Ministry of Foreign Affairs and European Integration, Ministry of Internal Affairs, General Prosecutor’s Office, Centre for Combating Economic Crimes ad Corruption, Ministry of Health, Intellectual Property Agency), we still cannot speak of functional, systematic sharing of information with mass media.  Press and PR services do not always provide journalists with timely and thorough reactions to their inquiries. 

Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency):

“Many times, PR officers hold the position of a mechanism for the transmission of requests. Phrases like: “I will pass the information, but I cannot promise anything», are very frequently used. Thus, the responsible person passes the responsibility to someone else, and after a while the same person comes to you and without any remorse is telling you: “I made everything possible, but this is the result.” That is, a negative result”.           

4.2. Usually editors' offices are informed beforehand about certain events, but the press conferences and briefings are not organized on a regular basis. Often the quality and efficiency of such events leaves much to be desired. Editors do not yet receive information materials such as reports, announcements and analyses on a regular basis. Often press releases do not include sufficient information for media or, as a result, for the public. Many press releases have a congratulatory character, providing a one-sided image of an institution. 

                 Cornelia Cozonac (Centre of Investigative Journalism):

“Welcome is the fact that in many institutions responsible  persons have been appointed for relation with the press, but there is a tendency for coalition of the press services under the umbrella of the Government or of the other institution in order to control and coordinate their activity, so that the information released to be the one wanted by the power, so that not to diffuse any information contravening the power or leaving any space for questions and interpretations. Lately we had a series of discussions with representatives of the law enforcement agencies who assured us of their will to collaborate with the journalists. They said they would like investigative  journalists to investigate certain corruption cases, to find out how the courts ruled in certain cases when the court acquits persons suspected of serious offences. When coming with the proposal to discuss concrete cases of corruption in order to start preparing for the journalistic investigation, the criminal investigators informed us that they shall priory receive the approval of their press services, which is in charge of coordinating the information to be made public. This thing is contradicting to the criminal investigator’s legal right to offer information to the public about a case. The fact that each step should be coordinated with the press officer and that each piece of information shall be coordinated with the superiors, makes the collaboration between law enforcement bodies and journalists inefficient. Consequently, many activities carried out by the public institutions in the field of access to information are made for show for the international organisations, but in reality the information related to top level corruption cases is more and more secret. All journalists who had investigated corruption cases this year faced problems within press services of the public institutions”.       

Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency):

“The institutions that organise periodically (at least once a week) briefings and conferences can be counted on fingers – Ministry of the Interior, Government, Chisinau Mayoralty and Chisinau Municipal Council. However, many times their quality leaves much to be desired. Or, the organisers use these media events only for promoting certain messages, and the receptivity to other journalists’ wishes is almost equal to zero. The other institutions organise briefings and press conferences at most twice a year, and then by establishing restrictions to journalists. These institutions prefer to work with the media via press releases, who provide measured information, usually incomplete and have a polishing rather than informing character”.                

Vadim Pistrinciuc (National Centre for Transparency and Human Rights):

“Lately there is an increase of number of press conferences, but most of them are organised for popularisation of the public authorities rather than discussing, debating on several issues or ensuring transparency in the activity of the given institution. The information presented during press conferences is usually very brief”. 

4.3. Another problem lies in the pained and non-constructive reaction of some public institutions to criticism relayed by mass media, even in cases of fraud that lack any political context. This is to the detriment of efforts to combat social vices, including corruption, and purposefully minimizes the role of mass media in the life of society.

Petru Macovei (Association of Independent Press):

“The reaction of the institutions to the criticism voiced by the media differs: from complete negation of the accusations and counter- accusations in the loyal media to the complete lack of reaction. Unfortunately, there is no tradition of public debates with the participation of representatives of the criticised institutions, based on arguments and counter- arguments of the parties”.

Tudor Iaşcenco (“Cuvîntul” newspaper, Rezina):

“The authorities, as a rule, “do not notice» the criticism, or initiate court cases against journalists lasting for years. Even when court cases are won by the journalists, the authorities do not hurry with the enforcement with the court decisions”.

Oleg Cristal (independent journalist): 

“There are cases when the public institutions recognise their guilt and the errors committed, but in many cases they refute the diffused information, accusing the media of “non- professionalism” and “tendentious character”. However, in most of cases the criticism levelled by the journalists on the public institutions remains without reply”.  

4.4. In the period of the months of October – December several cases of limitation of access to information have been signalled. There are obvious symptoms that there will be an increase in the number of limitation with the upcoming electoral campaign.
Cornelia Cozonac (Centre of Investigative Journalism):

“The Centre of Investigative Journalism requested the Government, Presidency and the Council for the restoration of Curchi Monastery information about the donations made by the citizens and economic agents, the sums accumulated on the special bank accounts, the sums transferred from the state budget for the reparation of the monastery and the name of economic entities contracting for performing the restoration works. The Government and President’ Apparatuses replied that they do not possess such information, the other did not replied at all. The requests made were based on the Government Decision on the creation of an Observers’ Council for the restoration of Curchi Monastery, providing monthly hearings of the reports on the expenses made for the restoration of the monastery. Members of the Government and representatives of the Presidency are part of this Observers’ Council. The information about the import of electric energy and its price is treated as state and commercial secret. The Customs Service and National Statistics Bureau refused to provide information on these issues invoking the “commercial secret”. In order to carry out an investigation we used our unofficial sources of information or the information provided by the public institutions from Ukraine, which post the whole information regarding the export of energy on their official website”.        

4.5. The key topic of the last month debates was the refusal of the Broadcasting Coordinating Council to extend the broadcasting licence of PRO TV channel in the Republic of Moldova, invoking alleged violations related to the lack of programmes for deaf persons, the volume of advertising and the replacement of a news journal. PRO TV considers the BCC refusal unjustified and state that the levelled accusations are totally groundless and cannot serve as a ground to deny the right to extend the broadcasting licence. The Broadcasting Code, adopted by the Parliament in August 2006 provides for the BCC right to extend the licence of the broadcaster who worked in accordance with the legislation and the licence issued by the corresponding bodies. At the end of 2006, Parliament adopted the BCC statute which provides that BCC does not have the right to prolong the broadcasting licences issued before the adoption of the Broadcasting Code in 2006. Thus, taking into consideration the fact that the licences are issued for a 7 years period, BCC will be in the position to prolong these licences only after 2013. It should be mentioned that the BCC statute was adopted through Parliament decision, and in this case priority shall be given to the Broadcasting Code as an organic law.
Initially, in a reply letter to PRO TV, BCC wrote that the request of the TV channel does not meet the requirements of art. 24 of the Broadcasting Code, because  during the validity term of the licence, PRO TV did not respect all the provisions of the broadcasting legislation and the conditions of the broadcasting licence, but those four cases qualified as  derogations from the legislation in force and collected during the last 5 years, are singular and irrelevant. Later, BCC president stated in a press conference on 12 December 2008, that the regulation body will not extend the licence for PRO TV because, according to art. 26 of the Regulation on the procedure and conditions of issuing broadcasting licences and authorisation for retransmission, adopted through Parliament Decision, only licences „obtained on the basis of the Broadcasting Code” may be extended. It is quite obvious that BCC uses this formal trick, because according to art. 24 of the Broadcasting Code (1), “the broadcasting licence for the radiobroadcaster is legally extended, upon request, if he worked in conformity with the provisions of the present code and ensured the conditions of the broadcasting licence during its validity term”.  

The right of the radiobroadcaster to extend their broadcasting licences, stipulated in the Broadcasting Code, was annulled by the Parliament Decision no. 433-XVI  from 28.12.2006. On the one hand, the fact that a Parliament Decision modifies the provisions of an organic law -  the Broadcasting Code, adopted by majority of votes, is in contradiction with the Republic of Moldova Constitution, on the other hand, it violates the European norms by the discriminatory application of the law towards local broadcasters. 

 BCC actions mark a stronger tendency of the Republic of Moldova authorities to intimidate the independent press and institute a monopoly on the main sources of information, leaving the citizens without alternative sources of information before the electoral campaign. Thus, several times, PPCD representatives in the Parliament formulated ungrounded and unprecedented accusations against PRO TV, stating the channel’s activity “frames within multiple scenarios of undermining the national interests of the Republic of Moldova, created by the non-friends from outside”, and on 29 November , the deputy speaker of Parliament and PPCD president Iurie Roşca directly warned PRO TV that it will be closed. 

In the opinion of several non-governmental media organisations who signed a Declaration on this occasion, is also based on the fact that duet o the lack of clear and transparent criteria for the distribution of radio frequencies and TV channels, and following the contests organised by BCC, many well appreciated and popular post disappeared from the media market of the country (Radio 103,5FM from Bălţi or TVR1); arbitrary and unexplainable decisions have been taken, if listing just the decisions of the last contest, when no licences had been given to some TV and Radio posts which were very popular with the public, like Vocea Basarabiei, Pro FM, Radio Noroc, Radio 21, PRO TV Chişinău, Muzica TV, under the conditions when  totally unknown posts like Radio 10 and DTV, received 5 frequencies for 8, and respectively 8 channels from 11 requested. At the same time, some broadcasting institutions (for example, radio Antena C and NIT TV Channel), which activities generated BCC objections in the period before the contest, have obtained the solicited frequencies: Antena C – 6 frequencies out of 7, and NIT – 12 out of 12. 
The representative of the Organisation for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE) for the freedom of the press, Miklos Haraszti, called the Republic of Moldova authorities to renew the broadcasting licence of the PRO TV Chişinau. In his opinion, this thing is necessary for ensuring pluralism, in particular before parliamentary elections to take place next year in Moldova. “An eventual closing of the “PRO TV Chişinău” channel would limit the pluralism of opinions in Moldova, fact that runs counter the commitments undertaken by Moldova in the field of media freedom”, mentions a letter signed by Haraszti and addressed to Andrei Stratan, Moldovan minister of Foreign Affairs. Miklos Haraszti states that the pretensions of the BCC against “PRO TV Chişinău” on some violations committed by the post are not sound reasons able to determine the closing of a popular TV channel. “The main role of a regulating body in the audio-visual field is to ensure pluralism and not to limit the activity of a media institution ", stated Haraszti, hinting at BCC actions against “PRO TV Chişinău”. Previously, the Commissioner for Foreign Relations and Neighbourhood Policy, Benita Ferrero-Waldner, voiced concern over the situation of the “PRO TV Chişinău” channel. The European official called Moldovan authorities to respect the commitments assumed at international level in the field of democracy, human rights and freedom of the press. 

By the end of the second decade of December, BCC announced that it institutes a moratorium on announcing the contests for the broadcasting licences which are to expire by the end of the electoral campaign. All radiobroadcasters with expired licences, including “PRO TV Chişinău”, can work unimpeded during the electoral campaign. According to BCC, 12 broadcasting licences will expire during this pre-electoral period. Possible, the decision regarding the moratorium was adopted in the context of the “PRO TV Chişinău” situation. At the same time, PRO TV has contested in the court the actions of the Broadcasting Coordinating Council refusal to extend the broadcasting licence of the post, motivating that the instituted moratorium is not capable to solve the problem. Therefore, the post insists requesting the automatic prolongation of the broadcasting licence, in accordance with art. 24 of the Broadcasting Code.
The Chişinău Court of Appeal rejected PRO TV Chişinău’s claim against the Broadcasting Coordinating Council (BCC). PRO TV Chişinău stated that the Court of Appeal’s decision not to accept the its claim against BCC is groundless. PRO TV Chişinău will contest this decision before the Supreme Court of Justice in accordance with the current legislation, stated the director of the post, Cătălin GIosan. 

4.6. The South Eastern European Media Organisation (SEEMO) called in October the authorities of four states including Moldova to stop the harassment of journalists and media institutions. SEEMO expressed also its concern on the harassment of investigative journalists from “Ziarul de Gardă” publication. The appeal was signed by Oliver Vujovic, Secretary General of the media international organisation. The given organisation called the Prime minister and the Minister of the Interior to start investigations on the case of intimidations of journalists from „Ziarul de Gardă”. After the publication of an article (“Torrid Summer at ISS”) on 4 September 2008, the journalists from the publication “Ziarul de Gardă” have informed the public about the pressures exerted on them by unknown persons, assuming they might be from ISS. The journalists received phone calls from unidentified persons, and threatening messages have been posed on the publication’s forum.
4.7. Eleven European diplomatic missions accredited in Chişinău, issued late November a joint statements calling Moldovan authorities to guaranty the access of all parties participating in elections to the media means. The signatories of the declaration call the authorities to ensure balanced representation of the electoral process by all media institutions. “In this regard, particular attention is given to the editorial independence of the public audio-visual means and their pluralistic character during the electoral campaign”, states the declaration. In the same time, the diplomatic missions outline that “particular relevance will have the renewal of the broadcasting licences”. 

Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency):

“It is not a secret that there is „ comfortable media in Moldova which, is of course favoured . For example, for the briefings of the President of the country (in special those related to Moldova- Russian relations) only journalists affiliated to the power are invited. And the first persons in the state offer interviews and participate in televised programmes only at „comfortable” televisions like NIT, “Moldova-1”. The fist persons even do not hide their sympathy for a certain press and the antipathy for the other. Even the head of state allows himself to give appreciations in public, during press conferences, to some journalists or media institutions”.           

Oleg Cristal (independent journalist): 

“There is a problem with the accreditation of foreign journalists. During this period the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and European Integration refused, without any reason and giving no explanation, the accreditation of the journalist Cristina Dumitrescu, correspondent of Radio România News”.  

Eugen Uruşciuc ( “Monitor Media” Agency):

“as a rule, the reaction of the spokes persons of important public institutions towards some important events is delayed, although lately  we witnessed some positive trends. For example, the spoke person of the Government (Vitalie Condraţchi) had some operative “appearances” at TV channels, fact which obviously brought many advantages: to the public (it was informed) and to the Government (who showed openness to the media). It seems that the problem of the spoke persons is in their superiors/ chiefs, the later guiding their behaviour according to the well known quote “golden silence”. In the regions the situation is grave. Notwithstanding the fact that most of states structures from the districts have spoke persons in their staff, their performance leaves much to be desired”.

4.8. Veronica Russu, journalist at “Ziarul de gardă” newspaper was intimidated by one of the guardians accompanying the suspect to the court session. The incident took place in the Chisinau Military Court. According to the newspaper editors, although the journalist had the permission from the president of the court to take part in the session and take pictures during the pause or after the pronunciation of the decision, she was impeded by the guardian. At the end of the session the journalist took a picture of the suspect, after receiving his approval and some pictures from the court session hall. Although none of the guardians was recorded, one of them approached the journalist and forbade her to take other pictures. The guardian refused to explain his restrictions. Since the president of the court gave the permission to record during the court session, the guardian has no right to impose any restrictions. As well, the guardian is not entitled to ask for the journalist card.
Eugen Uruşciuc (“Monitor Media” Agency):

“What do you want”? “What will you write about me”? „Everything is Ok and nice”? These are the usual answers received by the journalists from public officials. This is one of the most serious problems faced by the journalists. Another problem is that related to telephone conversations with public officials for getting some operative comments. The case of “PRO TV Chişinău” in this sense is very pertinent. The administrator of “Termocom” Society refused to take part in a televised programme on the issue of heating in Chişinău municipality, and also labelled the media institution (“gypsy TV post”, 10 November 2008). The experience of the same TV post, in particular of the editor of “În PROfunzime” (In Depth) programme (Lorena Bogza) – an uncomfortable programme for the authorities – shows that responsible from different institution refuse systematically to take part in the programme”.  

4.9. The court from Comrat ruled to levy a distraint upon the accounts of “Edinaya Găgăuzia” on the sum of half million lei. The distraint was based on a complaint of the prosecutors of Gagauzia Gheorghii Leiciu, pretending that two articles published by the newspaper prejudiced his honour and dignity. The editor in chief of the newspaper “Edinaya Găgăuzia”, Dmitri Popazoglo informed that the distraint on the accounts endangers its publication. Late September, the editorial staff of the newspaper issued a declaration hinting at the fact that the prosecutor’s bodies are used as tools for political scuffle with the publication. According to the declaration, the prosecution started the liquidation process of the newspaper. The editorial staff called OSCE Mission and the diplomatic mission accredited in Chisinau „not to allow arbitrary actions of the prosecutions which aim at closing down the newspaper”.

Nadine Gogu (Independent Journalism Centre):
“In October the Independent Journalism Centre organised a series of meetings for a group of foreign journalists with several Moldovan officials. It is much easier for foreign journalist to open the doors of Moldovan officials than for the local ones, especially for those loyal to the power”. 
Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency):

“In many events only certain journalists are invited (for example , some briefings of the president), while other events are not announced at all (as, for example the sessions of the Security Supreme Council). Later, press releases are delivered about theses events, but the information is “filtered”, censored”.        

4.10. Late October the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and European Integration (MAEIE) rejected the request for accreditation of the correspondent of “Radio România Actualităţi”, Cristina Dumitrescu. Chisinau authorities gave no explanations and justifications for the refusal. The journalist from Bucureşti sent the necessary set of documents on 11 October and upon her arrival in Chisinau on 13 October went personally to the ministry to submit the request in original. After two weeks, Cristina Dumitrescu was informed that her request was rejected. The request for accreditation of the “Newsin” Agency correspondent was satisfied after half a year, although the time limit for providing accreditations is one month. The accreditation for the TVR1 and Agerpres were tergiversated as well. Similar problems faced the correspondents from Reuters and Itar-TASS. According with the regulation on the accreditation and professional activity of foreign journalists in Moldova, the accreditation of foreign journalists may be refused only when the guilt of the journalist was proved by a court decision and the journalist is immediately informed on the refusal and the reasons for it. The decision of the Chişinău authorities to refuse the accreditation of Cristina Dumitrescu, reporter for “Radio România” was condemned by the South Eastern European Media Organisation from Vienne. It should be noted that in 2008 SEEMO sent several appeals to Moldovan authorities, including to the Prime- Minister, calling the state structures to reduce pressures exerted on the media. 

Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency):

“In most of cases, the information is offered upon request, although there are institutions providing information on their own initiatives. Usually, these actions aim at gaining image to the given institutions. A good example in this respect is the Government, which delivers periodically to the press triumphant report on the Government activity in order to promote the image of a successful government. The other institutions do the same. As regards the access to informative materials which may prejudice the image of the institution, the access tot hem is almost inexistent”.             
4.11. The local representatives of the governing party from Balti forbade the access of the PRO TV crew to the solemn manifestation dedicated to the 91st anniversary of the great socialist revolution. It should be mentioned that the event was organised in the festivity hall of the Regional Population Evidence and Documentation Office. One of the organisers of the event justified the refusal by the fact that the public institutions are closed for the public after 5 o’ clock and the crew was not included in the list of invitees.
Petru Macovei (Association of Independent Press):

“A form of discrimination is attesting when speaking about the inclusion of journalists in the  compositions of the official delegations, their accreditation to important international events organised in Moldova, access to the press conferences organised by the President etc.”
4.12. A cameraman from “PRO TV Chişinău” was forced by the guardians of the president to erase from his camera the pictures of two other guardians when getting into the presidential car after one of the president’s visit to Anticorruption Centre. The incident took place on Thursday 27 November. The press service of the presidency declared that the guardians do not like being recorded, but in that very case they acted inadequately. There are no legal provisions allowing the agents to erase the pictures taken by journalists. Representatives of the presidency recognised that there were similar cases in the past and assured that the guardians have been informed not to intervene in case they are legally filmed by journalists.  
Cornelia Cozonac (Centre of Investigative Journalism):

“The investigative journalists investigating corruption cases and abuses committed by public officials and state dignitaries are avoided by the press officers and are refused the requested information”.   

4.13. One policemen has physically aggressed the journalist Domnica Negru from PRO TV Chişinău and destroyed her microphone while she was reporting about a case of robbery of one bank from Chişinău. From the pictures broadcast by the television, it was pretty clear that the journalist was trying to get information on the situation from the policeman. It seems that the policeman felt intimidated by the microphone and the camera, because at one moment he wriggled the journalist hand and took the  radio-microphone out of her hand. After a while he threw the microphone away in the street. Instead of providing information, the policeman aggressed the journalist, stated PRO TV Chişinău. Before aggression, the policeman warned the journalist about the brutal actions he is going to take if she continues to be insistent. He was recommending her several times to ask for information the press service of the Ministry of the Interior. It should be mentioned that there are frequent cases when crews of PRO TV Chişinău and other media institutions face similar situations. After a series of aggressive incidents involving policemen and journalists, the Ministry of the Interior promised to adopt a civilised behaviour towards journalists. 
Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag” Media Agency):

“The press releases are used as perfect information filters, giving the authorities the  possibility to change the accents according to their will, to hide the information with negative character and to place journalists in the position to choose: to write good things or not to write at all. When being asked for some information, the press officers make referrals to the official press releases on the subject» containing the entire information we can offer”.     

Nadine Gogu (Independent Journalism Centre):
“When a deputy speaker of Parliament demonstratively turns his back to a journalist, refuses to answer his question and, what is more grave, allows himself to insult him  for the simple reason he is coming from a television presenting some other different opinions than his own, no one can speak about fair and non-discriminatory treatment. As well, public institutions provide first of all information to journalists loyal to the power”. 

4.14. “The importance of the media during electoral campaigns underlines a series of risks or pressures which might be faced by the press during this period. These pressures may come from both state bodies and electoral contestants ", these declarations were made by the Parliament speaker– Marian Lupu – in his opening speech for the conference „Democratic responsibility of the media during electoral campaigns", organised in Chisinau. According to Marian Lupu, mass-media has double responsibility in electoral campaigns. On the one hand, towards the population which should be correctly and objectively informed, and on the other hand, towards electoral contestants who should be given equal chances for presenting their message to the public. The balanced and unbiased reporting of the electoral process provides citizens with the possibility to exert a conscious vote, so that to reflect correctly the will and the mandate of the people, said Marian Lupu. “In essence, the freedom of the media resides not only in the right of being free, but also the obligation of being responsible”, added the speaker.
Vadim Pistrinciuc (National Centre for Transparency and Human Rights):

The media sources considered pro-governmental are usually favoured as regards the informing process”. 

Eugen Uruşciuc ( “Monitor Media” Agency):

“An efficient informing system of the media at national level is improving. In this sense, if comparing the efficiency of the informing and communication mechanisms of the most important three institutions in the state  – Parliament, Government, President – with the press, there is no much difference. Taking the risk of appreciation,  in general, I believe that during the last time, the most efficient communication with the media is that of the Government, the presidency comes on the second place. Lately, there is a decrease in the communication quality of the Parliament. As an evolution in this sense we can mention the fact that some ministries began to approach both a qualitative and quantitative communication with the media. However, there are lots of public institutions which do not have informing systems/ mechanisms yet. There is a need for the improvement of the communication system between the media and the courts. The things are dramatically at the local level, where the public authorities and institutions do not care too much to keep informational relations with the journalists, in particular, and with the media institutions, in general”. 

4.15. “We have never exerted and will not exert any pressure on the journalists working legally on the territory of the Republic of Moldova”, declared the Moldovan president Vladimir Voronin during a meeting with the ambassadors of the European states and USA. In V. Voronin’s opinion, „every representative of the media has the right to receive and distribute information. We have adopted in this respect several legislative acts which fully comply with the European requirements”, said the president. “The authorities plead for the full freedom of the media in the Republic of Moldova. In the context of the debates on the issue of the press in Moldova, Vladimir Voronin mentioned that based on a recent decision (on the institution of a moratorium) of the Broadcasting Coordinating Council, the licence of “PRO TV Chişinău” will not be put on tender by the end of the electoral campaign.
Igor Volniţchi (“Infotag”  Media Agency ):

“in most of cases, the journalists have access to the session legalising the previously reached decisions (within commissions, factions, parties etc.). in the sessions were the decisions are really taken, the journalists do not have any access, or even more, do not know about them (the session of the Chisinau municipal council are an exception)., In fact, the issue of accreditation cannot solve the problem of a greater access of the journalists to the sessions. This is because it is clearly state don them that they ensure the access only to plenary sessions and sessions declared public. From this perspective, the accreditations are rather a hindrance in the way of free access to information that a facilitating tool”.                  

4.16. Within the gala “10 Journalists of the Year 2008", ten of the best journalists of the year have been awarded by the Chisinau press Club, launched in 1995 by the Independent Journalism Centre and the Committee for the Freedom of the Press.

 

The journalists were given a diploma and a glass apple pierced by an arrow – the symbol of the message sent to the target. 

 

Ion Preaşcă (“ECO” and “Energia”) and Irina Codrean (“Timpul de dimineaţă”) were awarded for the Category „Written Press”; Angela Gonţa, (PRO TV Chişinău) and Gabriel Călin (TV 7) – Category “Television”; Elena Moldoveanu (“Radio Europa Liberă”) and Eduard Maceac (“Radio Moldova”) – Category “Radio”;   Lina Grîu (NewsIn) and Lilia Gurez (Infotag) –  Category “Media Agencies”’;  Ana Butnariuc (DECA-press, “PRO TV Chişinău” and “SP”, newspaper from Bălţi) and Ludmila Topal (Bas TV and Bas FM from Basarabeasca) – Category “Local Press”. The Prize for Excellence was awarder to the writer and publicist Mihail Gheorghe Cibotaru. Two more prizes have been awarded “Hope of the Year”, going to Mariana Raţă (“Jurnal de Chişinău”) and Eugenia Pogor (Info-Prim Neo). The best debut of the year was JURNAL TV. Serghei Mişin (Ekonomiceskoe obozrenie) was elected the best manager of a media institution. The Independent Journalism Centre awarded Natalia Scurtul (“Profsoiuznîie vesti”, Tiraspol) the prize for promoting diversity. “Phoenix” award, given to a journalist or media institution continuing to work under extreme conditions was given to “Vocea Basarabiei” Radio. 

 

Laureates of the annual Prize of Bronze Pyramids given by the Association of Independent Press were: Tudor Iaşcenco, “Cuvîntul” (Rezina) – for the best reporter’s investigation, Diana Răilean, “Ziarul de gardă” (Chişinău) – for the best reportage, Andrei Suzanski, “SP” (Bălţi) – for the best photo, and Corneliu Rusnac (BBC Moldova) – the prize for the best journalist outside the Association of Independent Press.  

4.17. The Law on the Access of Information provides for a series of concrete measures for the protection of the right to access to information, for the defence on judicial and extrajudicial way of the actions or inactions of the information provider, including with regard to: a) the groundless refusal to receive and register the information request; b) refusal to ensure free and unconditioned access to the public registers; c) violation of the legal terms and procedures for replying information requests; d) failure to present or inadequate presentation of requested information; e) groundless refusal to provide the requested information; f) unjustified classification of information in the category of state, private or commercial secrets; g) groundless secretisation of information; h) fixing the fee and its amount for the information provided; i) causing material and/ or moral damages through the illegal actions of the information holder/ provider.
4.18. Over 300 cases related to the right to access to information have been examined by Moldovan courts during the last years. Taking this into account, we can already talk about a certain practice and case law in this field, which to a certain extent, has its positive influence on the behaviour and attitude of the public servants and public institutions, on the information solicitors and even on the judges who managed to overcome the regrettable error committed in the beginning.
4.19. The Supreme Court of Justice has launched a new web page – (www.csj.md). It offers the public access to the SCJ decisions, current agenda of all court’s sessions and also general information about the court’s activities and internal structure. There are over 4500 decision inserted on the web page already. The web page was created with the financial and technical support of the Millennium Challenge Corporation within the Country Threshold Programme. The launch of new web pages is part of the Moldovan authorities’ strategy on increasing transparency of the justice system. Parliament has amended the Law on the Organisation of the Justice System, introducing special provisions on the need for the courts to publish their decisions on the Internet. All Moldovan courts will be obliged to publish their decisions starting with 1 June 2009. By that date, all courts and courts of appeal with the financial and technical support of the Good Governance Programme will launch their web pages.

The group of experts assesses the access of the media to the official information with 2,0 (in the third quarter– 1,99, in the second quarter – 1,95 and in the first– 2,01).
III. Conclusions. Proposals. Recommendations.

The Group of experts assesses the level of access to official information during the forth quarter of the current year with 2,4 points. (in the third quarter – 2,36, in the second quarter– 2,12 and in the first quarter– 2,09 points).
The results of the forth quarter evaluation of access to information carried out by representatives of media institutions and non-governmental organizations under the aegis of „Acces-info” Centre is far from satisfactory. 
There is obvious discrepancy between the declarations of the state officials on the need for the ensuring the freedom of expression and access to information. 

The main problem resides in and the lack of a clear policy for the factual realization of the right to freedom of expression and access to information, lack of a systematic and rigorous control over the implementation of the legislation by the Government and Parliament, lack of an interactive dialogue between citizens and state institutions and lack of public involvement in the decision making process.
Measures need to be taken with a view of improving the contents of the web pages of many institutions and authorities.
There are frequent cases of refusals to information requests, including those coming from journalists. Not always the court decisions in access to information cases are enforced operatively and fully.
Many deficiencies have been signalled in a series of decentralized institutions which erroneously consider they are absolved of the obligation to provide official information.
We have ascertained the inefficiency of sporadic awareness raining and civic education activities carried out by the state bodies and non-governmental organizations in the view of promoting human rights and liquidating the legal illiteracy which usually generate the passiveness and inefficiency of the citizens.

In the view of realizing the free access to information, it is necessary to undertake a series of concrete actions at state and institutional levels, including:

- recognizing by the whole hierarchy of public authorities and institutions of the right to information as the basis for citizens’ participation, good governance, efficiency in public administration, transparency in preventing and combating corruption, overall development and realization of the social, economic, civil and political rights;

- bringing the legislation into accordance with constitutional norms, the Law on Access to Information and international standards set out in agreements signed by Moldova and creating of concrete instruments for implementation;

- setting up systematic control on behalf of the Government and Parliament over the ensuring of  free access to information and transparency in decision-making processes;

- providing for quantitative and qualitative evaluation, collection of statistical data and compulsory annual reporting on the implementation of access to information procedures;

- accusation of politicians, public officials that make gestures of threat, aggression and violence towards journalists and editorial staffs;

- creating a system that applies the possibilities of modern technologies to all levels of activity for  informing citizens, including within official web sites;

- allotting of the resources necessary for the efficient and adequate administration of an integrated public information system and consolidation of information management structures in all institutions, including within the press and PR services;

- enhancing of understanding of the importance of the right to access to information and ensuring the exercise of this right through educational activities for the public

 “Acces-info” Center

Group of experts: Vasile Botnaru, Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty Chisinau Bureau, Viorel Cibotaru, European Institute for Political Studies of Moldova; Cornelia Cozonac, Center for Investigative Journalism (CIN); Oleg Cristal, independent journalist; Nadine Gogu, Independent Journalism Center; Petru Macovei, Association of Independent Press; Constantin Marin, Faculty of Journalism and Sciences of Communication at Moldova State University; Vadim Pistrinciuc, National Center for Transparency and Human Rights; Eugeniu Ribca, Association of Electronic Press “APEL”; Maia Sadovici, Public Company “Gagauzia Radio-Television”; Vasile Spinei, “Acces-info” Center; Eugen Urusciuc, “Monitor Media” Agency, Balti; Igor Volnitchi, News Agency INFOTAG

The Strengthening Civil Society Monitoring Capacity in Moldova (SCSMCM) Program is funded by the U.S. Government through the Millennium Challenge Corporation and managed by the United States Agency for International Development (USAID), within the framework of the Threshold Country Program for Moldova. SCSMCM is implemented by the Academy for Educational Development (AED), with technical support from the International Research & Exchanges Board (IREX). The opinions expressed herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the MCC, USAID, AED or IREX.
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